


September 8, 1993

Peter M. Greenwald

District Counsel

Southcoast Air Quality

   Management District

21865 E. Copley Drive

Diamond Bar, CA 91765-4182




Your Request for Informal Assistance




Our File No. I-93-220

Dear Mr. Greenwald:


This is in response to your request for advice concerning the application of Section 84308 of the Political Reform Act (the "Act") to members of the governing board of the South Coast Air Quality Management District (the "District").  Your request for advice is general in nature and does not relate to a specific governmental decision pending before a specific board member.  Accordingly, we are treating your request as one for informal assistance.

QUESTIONS


1.  Does Section 84308 apply to a board member's vote to adopt rules implementing the District's Air Quality Management Plan?


2.  Does Section 84308 apply to the governing board's action to review and approve issuance of a Request for Proposal ("RFP") to solicit bids?


3.  Does Section 84308 apply to a board member's vote to approve a proposed contract that is bid pursuant to the District's RFP procurement process?


4.  Does Section 84308 apply to the governing board's action to approve staff's status report regarding the environmental documents received by the District in connection with pending projects?

CONCLUSIONS


1.  The provisions of Section 84308 do not apply to a board member's vote to adopt rules implementing the District's Air Quality Management Plan since an agency's decision to adopt rules is one of general application and does not involve a "license, permit, or other entitlement for use." 


2.  On the other hand, the provisions of Section 84308 do apply to the governing board's action to review and approve issuance of a Request for Proposal ("RFP") to solicit bids.  This is because the approval of the bid specifications or qualifications for bidding on a District contract appears to be discretionary.  Thus, unlike the decision to adopt rules, the  District's decision to approve the bid specifications of a contract and issue the RFP is considered a proceeding involving a contract for goods or services which is "pending" before the District within the meaning of Section 84308.  


3.  The provisions of Section 84308 are applicable to the approval of a proposed contract despite the fact that it is bid pursuant to the District's RFP procurement process.  Since the governing board is not required to select the lower bid, the proposed contract is not considered a "competitively bid" contract within the meaning of Section 84308.


4.  The provisions of Section 84308 do not apply to the governing board's action to approve staff's status report regarding environmental documents received by the District in connection with pending projects.  This is because it appears from your facts that such a decision is ministerial and the governing board is not making a decision on any project included in the report.  Under those circumstances, a proceeding is not considered "pending" before the District.

FACTS

Question 1:


One of the primary responsibilities of the governing board of the District is to adopt rules implementing the District's Air Quality Management Plan.  These rules generally set emission limits for classes of industrial operations.

Questions 2 and 3:


The District has adopted policies for contracting goods and services.  The policies provide that for contracts in excess of $50,000 that are not "sole source," the governing board will prepare, review and approve issuance of a Request for Proposals ("RFP") to solicit bids.  Once the RFP is issued and bids are received, District staff evaluates and rates the bids based on criteria set forth in the RFP.  The governing board must then approve the contract with the bidder.  The District's Contracting and Purchasing Policy ("Policy") states in Section VI(C)(2) that the governing board may "accept or reject all or any bids or may accept or reject a part of any bid."  In addition, if all bids are rejected, the board retains the discretion in Policy Section VI(C)(3) to solicit new bids.

Question 4:


Each month, District staff prepares a report for the governing board identifying the environmental documents that staff has reviewed and commented upon pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (Pub. Resources Code Section 21000 et seq., ("CEQA").  The CEQA documents referenced in the staff report analyze the environmental impacts of projects proposed to be undertaken by governmental entities or private parties.  The report briefly indicates the action that the District staff is taking regarding each environmental document, i.e., "commenting," but does not state the substance of any District comments.  The governing board takes no action on these reports other than to approve them.  The approval does not confer any rights or provide direction to the District staff.  

ANALYSIS


Section 84308 imposes limitations on contributions and prescribes disclosure and disqualification requirements for members of appointed boards and commissions who make decisions with respect to licenses, permits, or other entitlements for use. 


The Commission has already determined that the provisions of Section 84308 apply to the District's governing board members.  (Coleman Advice Letter, No. I-89-265.)  In order to determine whether the provisions of Section 84308 apply to the types of District decisions raised in your letter, we must first ask and answer two threshold issues:  Does the proceeding involve a "license, permit, or other entitlement for use" and, if so, is the proceeding "pending" before the agency? 


For purposes of Section 84308, a "license, permit, or other entitlement for use" is defined as:


...all business, professional, trade and land use licenses and permits and all other entitlements for use, including all entitlements for land use, all contracts (other than competitively bid, labor, or personal employment contracts), and all franchises.

Emphasis added; Section 84308(a)(5).


A proceeding involving a license, permit or other entitlement is "pending" when the application has been filed, the proceeding has been commenced, or the issue has been submitted for determination; it is the type of proceeding in which the officers are required to make a decision; and the decision is not purely ministerial.  (Regulation 18438.2.)  


The Commission has further interpreted this to mean that for purposes of Government Code Section 84308, a "proceeding involving a license, permit, or other entitlement for use" includes any proceeding to grant, deny, revoke, restrict, or modify a license, permit, or other entitlement for use.  (Regulation 18438.2(a).) 


The California courts have examined the term "entitlement for use" in contexts other than the Political Reform Act.  While these court decisions provide useful guidance, interpretation of the Act is not necessarily limited by interpretation of other laws.  (See, Section 81013.)  In Friends of Lake Arrowhead v. Board of Supervisors (1974) 38 Cal.App.3d 497, 509, and People v. County of Kern (1974) 39 Cal.App.3d 830, 837-840, the final discretionary acts of a public agency regarding the development of property were considered "entitlements for use" for purposes of the California Environmental Quality Act ("CEQA").  Similarly, in Bozung v. Local Agency Formation Com. (1975) 13 Cal.3d 263, 278-279, the California Supreme Court held that a local agency formation commission's approval of annexation of territory to a city was an "irrevocable step" as far as that particular public agency was concerned, and thus involved the issuance of an entitlement for use for purposes of CEQA.


Decisions of general application are not covered by Section 84308.  The law is intended to apply to decisions which have a direct and significant effect upon specific parties.  (Pleines Advice Letter, No. A-87-220.)  These types of decisions seem particularly susceptible to the influence of large campaign contributions.  (See, Woodland Hills Residents Assn., Inc. v. City Council (1980) 26 Cal.3d 938, 953 (Tobriner, J., concurring.)  Thus, Section 84308 imposes contribution limitations, as well as disclosure and disqualification requirements, to limit the actual and apparent corrupting influence of large campaign contributions in these proceedings.


We now turn to your specific questions.

Question 1:  


Do the provisions of Section 84308 apply to a proceeding to adopt rules implementing the District's Air Quality Management Plan?  In other words, does the adoption of rules involve a "license, permit, or other entitlement for use?"  


The decision to adopt rules is one of general application and does not involve a license, permit, or other entitlement for use.

Question 2:  


Do the provisions of Section 84308 apply to a proceeding to review and approve issuance of a Request for Proposal to solicit bids on a contract for goods or services?  


The provisions of Section 84308 apply to contracts considered by the District, other than competitively bid, labor, or personal employment contracts.  Thus, the section clearly applies to all proposals submitted in response to a RFP which are, in turn, submitted to members of the governing board. (Smart Advice Letter, No. I-92-249.).  The issue you raise is whether the provisions of Section 84308 apply to the District's initial action to approve the contents of the RFP and issue the RFP.


While the District is required to issue a RFP for contracts in excess of $50,000 that are not "sole source" pursuant to its procurement process, its decision to approve the bid specifications or qualifications for bidding on a contract appears to be discretionary.  Thus, unlike the decision to adopt rules, the District's decision to approve the contents of a RFP would be considered a proceeding involving a contract for goods or services which is "pending" before the District within the meaning of Section 84308.  This type of board decision has a direct and significant effect upon persons intending to bid on the contract.  For this reason, the District's RFP to solicit bids constitutes a contract within the meaning of Section 84308.

Question 3:  


Do the provisions of Section 84308 apply to a proceeding to award a contract which has been bid pursuant to the District's RFP procurement process?  In other words, does the contract for goods or services entered into by the District fall into the exception to the definition for "competitively bid" contracts?


The Commission has construed the exception for "competitively bid" contracts to apply only when the bidders submit fixed amounts in their bids and the agency is required to select the lowest qualified bidder.  (Smart Advice Letter, No. I-92-249; Thatch Advice Letter, No. I-89-222; Thatch Advice Letter, No. A-84-318.)  

The intent of this exception is to remove only those contracts where the agency has little, if any, discretion in choosing the contractor.  


It appears from the documentation you have provided and from your description of the District's procurement process for goods or services that these contracts do not fall within the exception.  The District is not required to select the lowest bid.  In fact, the governing board has the discretion to accept or reject all or any bids or a part of any bid.  Therefore, a proceeding to award a contract that is bid pursuant to a RFP would be covered by the provisions of Section 84308.

